THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 26 2024

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000491

Annie Pelzer,Appellant,

v.

Dolgencorp, LLC d/b/a Dollar General,Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Paige B. George
Barry B. George
Law Office of Barry B. George
1419 Bull Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 254-7222
Attorney(s) for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE APPELLANT HAD ESTABLISHED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE NEGLIGENCE OF RESPONDENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 7, 2021, Annie Pelzer (Pelzer) filed a complaint against Dolgencorp, LLC d/b/a Dollar General (Dollar General). (R. pp. 16-19) The sole cause of action was negligence. (R. pp. 16-19). Dollar General filed an answer generally denying the allegations and asserting comparative negligence (R. pp. 20-26). The deposition of Appellant was held on March 16, 2022. Respondent filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on July 27, 2022. (R. pp. 27-54) Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard by the Honorable Alison Renee Lee on January 24, 2023. (R. pp. 88-102) Before the lower court were excerpts of Appellant's deposition and video from Respondent's surveillance camera. (R. p. 135) On March 17, 2023, the court filed a Form 4 order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment asking for the Respondent to prepare a formal order. (R. pp. 2-4). On December 8, 2023, the lower court issued its formal order. (R. pp. 5-12)

Appellant subsequently filed a Motion to Reconsider on December 18, 2023 (R. pp. 55-59). Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant's Motion to Reconsider on December 21, 2023. (R. pp. 60-87) On February 26, 2024, Judge Lee, without a hearing, denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 13-15) The lower court's orders are the bases for this appeal. On March 26, 2024, Pelzer served the Notice of Appeal on Respondent Dollar General. (R. pp. 136-137)

FACTS

On June 5, 2021, Annie Pelzer went to Dollar General to shop for laundry detergent (R. pp. 16-19, 106-107) Prior to Appellant entering the store, the following timeline of important facts were captured on Respondent's surveillance video:

- A flower display is knocked over causing water to spill on the floor (R. p. 135, timestamp 16:58:16; R. pp. 108, 118-119)
- An employee comes over to the flower display (R. p. 135, timestamp 16:58:22)
- A large puddle of water is growing on the floor (R p. 135, timestamp 16:59:30)
- An employee knocks over the flower display again (R p. 135, timestamp 16:59:43)
- An employee of Dollar General begins to start mopping the floor (R p. 135, timestamp 17:01:40; R. pp. 121-122)
- An employee of Dollar General begins to start cleaning up the floor with paper towels (R p. 135, timestamp 17:02:52)
- Can see a large amount of water on the floor (R p. 135, timestamp 17:07:22; R. p. 122)
- Employee spreads water with a mop for approximately a minute (R p. 135, timestamp 17:04:30)
- Pelzer arrives in her vehicle. Video shows water still glistening on the floor (R p. 135, timestamp 17:10:04)
- Pelzer enters the store and slips (R. pp. 109; R p. 135, timestamp 17:10:50)

Following the Appellant slipping the following occurred:

- Employee comes over to the site of the spill again and moves the sign to the area where Plaintiff fell (R p. 135, timestamp 17:11:30)

- Employees soak up water for 5 more minutes during which the towels are becoming soaked with water (R. pp. 109, 130-131; R p. 135, timestamp 17:12:12-07:17:13)

Appellant, who shopped in the store every day, was looking forward in the direction she intended to travel to reach the detergent section of the store. (R. pp. 108, 111-112, 121-122, 132) She slipped in the water that remained on the floor following the employees attempt to clean up the water (R. pp. 109, 112-113, 116-118, 121, 127, 133; R p. 135, timestamp 17:10:50). Appellant sustained injuries as a result of her slipping. (R. pp. 111, 114-115, 117) Appellant testified that she did not see the yellow wet signs before she fell as they were to her right and not in front of her. (R. pp. 110, 120, 130)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court under Rule 56(c), [South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure].” *Holst v. KCI Konecranes Intl. Corp.*, 390 S.C. 29, 35, 699 S.E.2d 915, 916 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *Companion Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Airborne Exp., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 388, 390, 631 S.E.2d. 915, 916 (Ct. App. 2006) “Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Id.* (citing *Wilson v. Moseley*, 327 S.C. 144, 146, 488 S.E.2d. 862, 863 (1997) “In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Id.*

“Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Singleton v. Sherer*, 377 S.C. 185, 659 S.E.2d. 196, 203 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 196, 203 (2005)

and *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct. App. 2004)). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 376 S.C. 37, 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (2008). “The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Singleton*, 659 S.E.2d at 202.

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Id.* at 203. (citing *Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E.2d 455 (2004); *Hawkins v. City of Greenville*, 358 S.C. 280, 594 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2004)).

“In order to recover in a negligence action, the plaintiff must show (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach.” *Crolley v. Hutchins*, 300 S.C. 355, 356, 387 S.E.2d. 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing *South Carolina Insurance Company v. James C. Greene & Co.*, 290 S.C. 171, 348 S.E.2d 617 (Ct. App. 1986)).

“Summary judgment is appropriate only when it is **perfectly clear** that no genuine issue of material fact is involved and **further inquiry into the facts is not desirable** to clarify the application of the law.” *Duck v. Wallace Associates, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 448, 451, 438 S.E.2d 269, 270 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Hook v. Rothstein*, 275 S.C. 187, 268 S.E. 2d 288 (1980) (emphasis added)). “Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. “ *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003) (citing *Baughman v. American Tel. And Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1990)). “[T]he non-moving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence . . . “ *Id.*, 354 S.C. at 69. “In determining whether any

triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence **must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.**” Id. (citing *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994) (emphasis added). “The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, deposition, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material facts and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56(c).

“Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling, LLC*, 417 S.C. 514, 790 S.E.2d 410 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.* 349 S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002))

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT. APPELLANT ESTABLISHED GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO RESPONDENT’S NOTICE OF THE CONDITION, THE DUTY OF RESPONDENT, THE RESPONDENT’S BREACH OF DUTY AND THE DAMAGE SUFFERED TO APPELLANT.

Appellant’s premises liability Complaint contained one cause of action for negligence. (R. pp. 16-19) In the instant premises liability case, Respondent’s notice of the condition is not an issue. Prior to Appellant’s slip and subsequent injury, Respondent’s employees had attempted to clean up the water which had been spilled twice – once by a patron of the store and once by an employee. (R. p. 135) Rather, the issue here is whether the Respondent provided a reasonably safe premises following the flower stand being overturned and water spilling onto the floor. “The parties do not dispute that [Appellant] was an invitee on [Respondent’s] premises and that it owe[d] [Appellant] the duty of reasonable care” (R. pp. 5-12)

The lower court found that the Respondent store had provided a reasonably safe premises “by mopping the spill and by placing wet floor signs in place to warn of any additional water that may be on the floor.” (R. pp. 5-12) Appellant argues that Respondent had not provided a reasonably safe premises and whether Respondent provided a reasonably safe premises is a genuine issue of material fact for a jury to determine. It is Appellant’s position that the evidence provided by Appellant was enough to defeat Respondent’s summary judgment motion.

“It is established in South Carolina that a merchant is not an insurer of the safety of its customers but rather owes its customers the duty to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition.” *Felder v. K-Mart Corp.*, 297 S.C. 446, 377 S.E.2d 332 (1989) (citing *Howard v. K-Mart Discount Stores*, 293 S.C. 134, 359 S.E.2d 81 (Ct. App. 1987). “[W]hether a defendant has provided reasonably safe premises is normally a question for the jury.” *Id.* (emphasis added)

“[N]egligence [is a] question[] of fact for the jury and only rarely become[s] [a] question[] of law for the court to decide. If more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence, the trial judge is required to submit the issues to the jury.” *Felder v. K-Mart Corp.*, 297 S.C. 446, 377 S.E.2d 332 (1989) (citing *Graham v. Whitaker*, 282 S.C. 393, 321 S.E.2d 40 (1984); *Tucker v. Albert Rice Furniture Sales*, 295 S.C. 119, 367 S.E.2d 427 (Ct. App. 1988))”

The Court when considering a motion for summary judgment or when considering a directed verdict motion does not have the authority to decide credibility. “[M]atters of credibility should not be determined at the summary judgment stage. ‘All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from evidence must be construed most strongly against the movant for summary judgment.’” *Hiers by Hiers v. Mullens*, 425 S.E.2d 57, 61, 310 S.C. 63, 68 (Ct. App. 1992) (quoting *Shea v. State Department of Mental Retardation*, 279 S.C. 604, 610, 310 S.E.2d

819, 822 (Ct.App.1983)) (emphasis added) "When considering a directed verdict motion, neither the [circuit] court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence." *Ray v. City of Rock Hill, S.C.*, 428 S.C. 358, 372, 834 S.E.2d 464, 471 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Burnett v. Family Kingdom, Inc.* , 387 S.C. 183, 188-89, 691 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2010)). "A court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations **nor considers the merits of competing testimony**; however, summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner." *Clary v. Borrell*, 398 S.C. 287, 296 727 S.E.2d 773, 777-778 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2006) (emphasis added).

Appellant testified that she was looking out and not down and did not see the caution signs prior to her fall. (R. pp. 108-110) Appellant testified that there was still water on the floor and Dollar General had not sufficiently cleaned up the water. (R. p. 117). Appellant's testimony that there was still water on the floor is substantiated by the surveillance footage. The video footage shows that the floor was still sopping wet after Ms. Pelzer's fall as the employee(s) of Dollar General spent an additional five minutes after Appellant's fall cleaning up the water. (R. p. 135) Additionally, Appellant testified in her deposition that she sustained injuries because of the incident at Dollar General. (R. pp. 111, 114-115, 117)

The lower court in ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment did not consider the deposition testimony of the Appellant and granted Respondent's Summary Judgment motion solely on the basis of the video provided to the Court. The Court in essence ruled on the credibility of the testimony of Ms. Pelzer. The Court failed to consider the merits of competing evidence when it discounted Appellant's deposition testimony and the five minutes of footage following

Appellant's slip and injury. The credibility of the Plaintiff and the substance of the video is a determination for the trier of fact.

Plaintiff's testimony creates a conflict between it and the other evidence presented creating an issue for the trier of fact. The Court does not have the authority to resolve this conflict. *Id.* Additionally, the lower did not take the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellant. *Singleton*, 377 S.C. 185. Nor did the lower court construe the evidence most strongly against the moving party. *Hiers by Hiers*, 425 S.E.2d 57. Here, there is a disagreement concerning the conclusions to be drawn from the facts making summary judgment improper. *Huffman*, 417 S.C. 514.

"[I]t has long been the law that one who assumes to act, even though under no obligation to do so, thereby becomes obligated to act with due care." *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center*, 638 S.E.2d 650, 657, 371 S.C. 123 (S.C. 2006) (citing *Sherer v. James*, 290 S.C. 404, 406, 351 S.E.2d 148, 150 (1986); *Roundtree Villas Assn. v. 4701 Kings Corp.*, 282 S.C. 415, 423, 321 S.E.2d 46, 50-51 (1984)) "[W]here the thing is shown to be under the management of the defendant or his servants, and the accident is such as in the ordinary course of things does not happen if those who have the management use proper care, it affords reasonable evidence, in the absence of explanation by the defendants, that the accident arose from lack of care." *O'Leary-Payne v. R.R. Hilton Head, II, Inc.*, 638 S.E.2d 96, 100, 371 S.C. 340 (Ct. App. 2006) A reasonable jury could find that Defendant knew that a dangerous condition existed (as evidenced by the video footage) and that Defendant did not act with due care (as evidenced by the five additional minutes it took to clean up the water spill).

CONCLUSION

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the Appellant, Appellant provided the lower court genuine issues of material fact that could lead a reasonable jury to conclude that the Respondent and its employees breached their duty by not sufficiently cleaning and remedying the spilled water. It is undisputed by the parties that as an invitee of the store Appellant was owed a duty by the Respondent of a reasonably safe premises.

Appellant testified that there was water still on the floor when she entered the store and that the water on the floor caused her to slip and become injured. The evidence provided herein, between the Appellant's deposition and the video both before and after she fell creates genuine issues of material fact for a jury.

A reasonable jury could determine that the Respondent was negligent in cleaning up the water spill. Appellant's testimony, in itself, creates a conflict with other presented evidence creating a question for the trier of fact. It is only proper for a jury to determine the credibility and weight of Plaintiff's testimony and the video footage prior to her slip and injury and subsequent to her slip and injury. Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the Appellant, Appellant provided the lower court genuine issues of material fact that could lead a reasonable jury to conclude by a preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent knew of the spill; did not use due care in cleaning up the spill; that the injury to the Appellant was foreseeable; that the Respondent was negligent; and, that Respondent's negligence was a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries. Therefore, the lower court's granting of summary judgment as to Respondent was improper in this case. To hold otherwise, would deprive Appellants of a trial on disputed facts. *Singleton*, 377 S.C. 185.