RECEIVED

Jul 08 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Alison Renee Lee, Judge

Case No. 2024-000491

Annie Pelzer.....Appellant,

v.

Dolgencorp, LLC d/b/a Dollar General.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Nashiba Boyd, SC Bar No. 78376
Stephen Foster, SC Bar No. 102709
LEWIS, BLAIN, ROBERTS & BOYD, LLC
3700 Forest Drive, Suite 400
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
803.790.8838 (telephone)

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING RESPONDENT'S LIABILITY.

Appellant's argument to this Court is straightforward. The trial court rejected the argument for reasons that are equally straightforward. Appellant maintains her testimony is evidence that Respondent did not properly clean the spill depicted in the surveillance video; therefore, there is a question of material fact as to whether the store was maintained in a reasonably safe condition and the trial court erred in granting summary judgment. *See* App. Br. p. 9. However, Respondent's cleaning efforts were never at issue in this case, given the patently clear warnings Respondent provided to Appellant regarding the condition of the floor. Further, Appellant fails to identify any evidence in the record that raises a genuine issue of material fact regarding Respondent's purported failure to provide a reasonably safe premises. Therefore, this Court should reject Appellant's argument because it misstates the law and misconstrues the trial court's ruling.

Appellant avers the trial court made a credibility determination that was more properly the province of a jury. *See* App. Br. p. 8. In effect, Appellant argues there is a conflict between her testimony and objective video evidence; therefore, a question of material fact exists for a jury to consider, and, in granting summary judgment, the trial court impermissibly weighed her testimony against the video evidence. This argument is meritless on several counts.

First, the trial court did not, in fact, weigh Appellant's deposition testimony against Respondent's objective surveillance video. Rather, the trial court considered Appellant's testimony and found it completely irrelevant to the legal issues before the court. *See* Ex. C, Order Granting Summary Judgment dated Dec. 8, 2023 ("Plaintiff also argued that Defendant actually created the hazardous condition in the course of cleaning and mopping the area of Plaintiff's

incident. While the Court does not agree with this characterization of events; even if true, Defendant still placed Plaintiff on notice of a wet floor.”). The trial court found South Carolina courts have routinely ruled that in cases where a merchant’s mopping operation leaves a slippery floor, there is only actionable negligence when the merchant fails to give some form of a warning. *See, e.g., Young v. Meeting Street Piggly Wiggly*, 288 S.C. 508, 512, 343 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1986) (holding that summary judgment was appropriate when the record showed the defendant took reasonable precautions to provide safe premises for its customers, including mopping and placing a warning sign, despite the presence of moisture on the floor). Appellant’s testimony that the floor was still slippery after being mopped was not, in any respect, dispositive of the case because the condition of the floor was not at issue.

The question before the Court is not whether *any* issue of fact exists but whether an issue of *material* fact exists. *See* Rule 56(c), SCRCPP (providing summary judgment should be granted if the movant shows that “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law”). Because there was no need to further investigate the propriety of Respondent’s cleaning of the spill, that fact is, by definition, not material. *See Cullum Mech. Constr., Inc. v. S.C. Baptist Hosp.*, 344 S.C. 426, 432, 544 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2001) (holding summary judgment is appropriate when no further inquiry into the facts is necessary to clarify the application of the law). Therefore, Appellant’s argument fails now for the same reason it failed before the trial court on summary judgment: whether the floor was “sufficiently cleaned” is *not* a material fact in determining whether Defendant was negligent. The only material fact in the case is whether Respondent properly *warned* Appellant of the wet floor. It is undisputed that the yellow cautions were present in the immediate area prior to Appellant’s fall, providing a

warning to all customers of the possibility that the floor may be wet. Thus, the only material fact dispositive to the case is undisputed.

Second, Appellant is effectively arguing Respondent is the insurer of customer safety and wholly responsible for any injury involving a hazard, regardless of its attempts to remedy by warning patrons of the wet floor. This is not the law. Respondent owed Appellant a duty of ordinary care to keep the subject store in a *reasonably* safe condition. *See Garvin v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 625, 628, 541 S.E.2d 831, 832 (2001). Respondent was not responsible for Appellant's safety because "[a] merchant is not an insurer of the safety of his customer but owes the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition." *Garvin*, 343 S.C. at 625, 541 S.E.2d at 832 (citing *Pennington v. Zayre Corp.*, 252 S.C. 176, 165 S.E.2d 695 (1969)). Further, the mere presence of water on the floor, without more, is insufficient to establish liability. *See Gillespie v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 91, 394 S.E.2d 24, 25 (Ct. App. 1990); *Young*, 288 S.C. at 510, 343 S.E.2d at 638. Appellant's argument requires that Respondent be held liable for its attempts to clean a substance on the floor *regardless* of any warnings Respondent gave to patrons. Accepting Appellant's argument would create a new, heretofore nonexistent duty in contravention of well-established law.

Rather, Appellant was required to show there was an issue of material fact as to whether Respondent failed to *remedy* the hazard for which it was on notice. *See Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 32, 542 S.E.2d 728, 729 (2001) (citing *Anderson v. Racetrac Petroleum Inc.*, 296 S.C. 204, 371 S.E.2d 530, 531 (1988) (holding that to recover for injuries caused by a hazard on a defendant's premises, a plaintiff must show either: (1) that the injury was caused by a specific act of the defendant which created the hazardous condition; or (2) that the defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of the hazardous condition and failed to remedy it)). It is well settled that

the presence of warning signs is evidence that reasonable precautions were taken to remedy a hazard and can form the basis for summary judgment. *See Legette v. Piggly Wiggly*, 368 S.C. 576, 580, 629 S.E.2d 375, 377 (Ct. App. 2006) (holding that summary judgment was appropriate when the record showed the defendant took reasonable precautions to provide safe premises for its customers, despite the presence of moisture on the floor).

This Court's well-reasoned opinion in *Legette* provides the necessary guidance to resolve the question before the Court, as the facts are nearly identical to the present case. In *Legette*, the plaintiff slipped and fell in some moisture near the store's entrance. *Legette*, 368 S.C. at 578, 629 S.E.2d at 376. Legette testified she did not notice water on the floor prior to her fall, and she did not remember seeing any mats or warning signs at the entry where she fell. *Id.* at 580, 629 S.E.2d at 377. However, photographs taken by store employees immediately following the fall depicted large mats and warning signs in the area, despite the fact that Legette testified she did not recall employees bringing mats or warning cones out to the area after she fell or while she was sitting for the photographs. *Id.* When confronted with the photographs, Legette could only be certain that she did not remember seeing the mats and cones; she ultimately conceded that they might have been present. *Id.* at 581, 629 S.E.2d at 377-78. Relying on *Young*, 288 S.C. at 512, 343 S.E.2d at 638, the Court held that the addition of mats at a store's entrance, the periodic mopping of the area, and the placement of at least one warning sign were *all reasonable steps* taken by the store to protect its customers. *Legette*, 368 S.C. at 579-80, 629 S.E.2d at 377. Ultimately, the Court held that "in light of Legette's vacillating testimony" on whether mats and cones were present, given the objective evidence demonstrating that mats and cones *were*, in fact, in place at the time of her

fall, there was no genuine issue of material fact for the jury's consideration regarding the store's liability. *Id.* at 581, 629 S.E.2d at 378.

Here, as in *Legette*, Respondent was on notice of a hazard due to liquid on the floor. It is undisputed that another customer caused the initial spill approximately thirteen (13) minutes before Appellant's fall. *See* Exhibit A, Entry Door Surveillance Video at 16:58:15. It is also undisputed that Respondent's employees were aware of the spill, cleaned the area, and placed two wet floor signs in the immediate area prior to Appellant's fall. *See* Exhibit A, Entry Door Surveillance Video at 17:01:00-17:10:50. Just as in *Legette*, undisputed objective video evidence shows that Respondent did, in fact, remedy the hazard by taking reasonable steps to put patrons on notice that the floor was wet. *Id.* Further, Appellant repeatedly admitted that wet floor signs were present in the area where she fell, conceded she fell next to one of the signs, and video footage shows her falling directly *beside* one of the warning signs. *See* Exhibit B, App's Dep. Tr. 18:3-20; 42:13-24; 44:8-18; 46:10-47:21; 48:4-49:2; 53:19-54:6; *See* Exhibit A, Entry Door Surveillance Video at 17:10:53-17:10:55.

Importantly, Appellant does *not* argue that the signs were inadequate or improperly placed; rather, she argues, in effect, that the presence of well-placed signs is irrelevant to the case. On the contrary, the presence of the signs is dispositive. Appellant's failure to pay attention as she entered the store does not create an issue of material fact on the question of liability. Appellant repeatedly testified that she simply did not observe the two bright yellow warning signs because she "wasn't even looking down" as she was walking. *See* Pelzer Dep. Tr. 43:2-3; 44:10-11; 46:21-23. Indeed, Appellant conceded that several other customers were able to safely walk through the area, explaining that those customers were able to navigate the area safely *because they saw the signs*. *See* Pelzer Dep. Tr. 56:3-5; 57:19-23. Appellant is attempting to create

an issue of material fact by asserting that Respondent failed to satisfy its duty to remedy a hazard by simply offering her opinion that Respondent's efforts were not "good enough." Our courts do not allow conclusory statements on the ultimate issue to overcome summary judgment. *See Shupe v. Settle*, 315 S.C. 510, 517-18, 445 S.E.2d 651, 655 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding "[a] conclusory statement as to the ultimate issue in a case is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact for purposes of resisting summary judgment").

In sum, the trial court granted summary judgment because objective video evidence proves beyond any doubt that Respondent remedied the hazard by cleaning the area and placing unmistakable warning signs directly over the area. That is all the law requires. The trial court did not question or dispute Appellant's version of events or raise questions about the credibility of her testimony. Rather, the trial found that Appellant's admission that the warning signs were present was evidence, along with the surveillance video, of a reasonable effort by Respondent to remedy the hazard. Appellant has presented no evidence to the contrary.

Therefore, the trial correctly found there was no genuine issue of material fact in this case and summary judgment was proper. Accordingly, this Court must affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent.

II. APPELLANT FAILED TO APPEAL A DISPOSITIVE RULING BY THE TRIAL COURT; THEREFORE, THAT RULING IS THE LAW OF THE CASE.

Appellant fails to challenge a dispositive ruling by the trial court, and this Honorable Court should decide the case in Respondent's favor on this basis alone. The trial court issued two rulings in favor of Respondent: "Based upon the established case law, this Court declines to impose a duty upon merchants that they must effectively ensure the safety of all customers by *both* warning of any known hazard *and* fully remedying all hazards from the premises." *See* Ex. C, Order Granting

Summary Judgment dated Dec. 8, 2023 (emphasis added). First, the trial court found, “Defendant properly warned Plaintiff of the hazardous condition; thus, relieving Defendant from liability.” *Id.* The trial court further found Appellant failed to argue that the signage was deficient. *Id.* Second, the trial court found—in addressing Appellant’s argument that Respondent did not sufficiently clean up the spill—that Respondent met its duty to remedy the hazardous condition by mopping and placing warning signs in the area; therefore, Respondent’s premises was in a reasonably safe condition at the time of the incident. *Id.* The trial court concluded that Respondent “*both* warned Plaintiff of a potentially hazardous condition *and* reasonably remedied the condition.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Appellant does not challenge on appeal the trial court’s ruling that Respondent properly and adequately warned her of the hazardous condition. Therefore, that ruling is the law of the case and should be affirmed. *See In re Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370 n. 2, 468 S.E.2d 651 n. 2 (1996) (noting that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal); *First Union Nat’l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding an “unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance”); *see also Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 573, 776 S.E.2d 397, 404 (Ct. App. 2015) (“The policy behind the law of the case is to ‘promote[] the finality and efficiency of the judicial process by protecting against the agitation of settled issues.’” (quoting *Christianson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp.*, 486 U.S. 800, 816, 108 S. Ct. 2166, 100 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1988))).

The issue of whether Respondent provided an adequate warning of the hazardous condition, thus relieving it of liability, is settled. *See Flexon*, 413 S.C. at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404. As argued previously, objective surveillance video and Appellant’s own testimony

demonstrate conclusively that multiple unmistakable, well-placed warning signs were in place to warn patrons of the potentially hazardous condition. There is no evidence in the record to the contrary. The trial court found these warnings absolved Respondent of liability and granted summary judgment to Respondent on this basis.

On appeal, Appellant argues only that the trial court erred in discounting her personal testimony that Respondent did not adequately clean the floor, thereby making an improper credibility judgment about her testimony and impermissibly weighing that testimony against competing evidence in ruling that Respondent's premises was in a reasonably safe condition. While meritless, this argument also fails to acknowledge, much less challenge, the trial court's alternative ruling on liability; namely, Respondent satisfied its duty to Appellant by displaying the warning signs. Indeed, the *only* time Appellant mentions the warning signs in her entire argument is in her admission that she did not see them because she was not looking as she was walking. *See* App. Br. p. 7. Therefore, the trial court's ruling that Respondent is absolved of any liability because it adequately warned Appellant of the hazardous condition is the law of the case and must be affirmed. *See First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C.*, 333 S.C. at 566, 511 S.E.2d at 378 (holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance"); *see also Atl. Coast Builders & Contrs., LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case." (quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010))).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent on all of Appellant's causes of action.